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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF ALBANY '

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK and the
NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF . -
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION, by LETITIA
'JAMES, Attorney General of the State of New York, . - .
- o COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs, ' , |
Index No.
V. '
o : Assigned to Justice:
ROBERT BOSCH GmbH and ROBERT BOSCH LLC, ' '

Defendants.

L | INTRODUCTION
| _In the fall of 2015, the Vo'lkswa_gen _diesel scandal éruptcd, _lcading to criminalll chaxges
and Volkswagen’s admissions thét: it knew that more than 500,000 diesel-powered i)assengér
vehicles it marketed and sold or leased i1_1 the Unitéd States didlnot Iﬁeet U.S. emission standards;
it cheated the Us. emissions testing process by using illegal softwarc'strategies that made it
appcar as .if thc vehicles ﬁet U.S. emission standards when they dld not; and it attempted to gnd
did conceal tﬁese facts from U.S. regulators and customers. | _

In 2016, in the wake of the Volkswagen scandal, state and federal. regulators found that . 7
VolksWagen_Was flot' alone. Another diesel car mamifacturer, Fiat Chrysler, aiso was using
undisclosed and 'illég_al software sﬁategiés-fé cheat on U.S. ermlis,sions‘tests in‘more than 100,000

7 Iigilt-duty diesel vehicles it marketed and sold or leased in the United States.

In both caées, the reievant software was pfovidcd_by Bosch, the globgl engineering firm

| known to many as the maker of household appliances and, more relevant here, éméjox su'pplig-r

to the automotive industry around the world. Bosch enabled this cheating by pfo gramming the
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" emission control sqﬂware it sold Volkswaécﬁ and Fiat Chrysler in circumstances \.thre BOsc}:_l
knew or should have kno@ that 1ts customers would use .that soﬂme as part of the-illqgal -.
strategies these automakers implemented to rhérket and sell their vehicles in the U.S. markef.

'Labora‘-tory and on-road testing confirm these illegal software strategies significantly
reduced ther effectiveness of these vehicles’ enﬁssion controls duﬁng normal operation and use,
causing them to emit multiples of the per£nitted levels of nitrogen oxideé (NOy) into the
environment. NO; is a pollutant that causes réspiratoryrilln'ess and premature death and that
contributes to the formatién of smog and particulate matter pollution. | |

. By this.action, the People of the State of Néw York and the New York Staté Department -
of Environmental Conservatibﬁ (together, the State or the State of New York) seek t(.)-hold Bosch -

~ accountable for its deceptive and ﬁnlawﬁll conduct. |
1L PARTIES | -
- 1. Plaintiff State of New Yolrk is a sovereign entity that briﬁgs this action on behalf of its
citizens and residents. | | | |
2. | Plaintiff New York Staté Dgpartment of Environmental Conservation (DEC) -is an
executive agency of the State of New York, and ils authorized to administer and cnforce the -
Environmental -Cc;nséﬁétioh Law (ECL) an.d- regulaﬁons promulgated thereunder.
3 . | ’fhe New York Attomey'Géneral is the chief_ law enforcement ofﬁcér of ;chc State of New .
York and is authorized to bring this action putsuant fo ECL §§ 71-'2103" and 71-2107, General |
- Business Law (GBL) §§ 349 éﬁd 350-d and ]é_xecutiv_e Law § 63(12). |
4. RoBert Bosch GmbH (Bosch Gl;I‘le) isa .German multinational cﬁgiﬁeering @d
eleétrom'cs company headquartcred in Geﬂingen, Germany. Bosch GmbH is the pa:eﬁt company .

of RoBe‘rt.Bosch LLC
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s, ‘Robert Bosch LLC (Bosch LLC) is a Delaware llmlted liability company with its 7
prmc1pal place of busmcss locatcd at 38000 H1lls chh Dnvc, Farmington Hllls, Michigan
48331 Bosch LLC is a subsidiary of Bosch GmbH, whlch wholly owns and controls Bosch
LLC Bosch GmbH and Bosch LLC (collcctlvcly, Bosch or the Bosch Dcfcndants) operate
under the umbrella of l:hc Bosch Group, which encompasses some 340 shbsidiaries and
companies. The Bosch Grouo is one of the leading ahto:hotivc sﬁoplicts.globally.

6. At all times material to this Complaint, each Bosch Defendant _was', chd still is,
the agcnt of the others for purposcs of thc matters alleged hcrcm and cach has actcd
and is acting, for the common goals and proﬁt of them all All acts and knowledge
ascrlbcd to any one Defendant are propcrly m_nputcd to the others.
1L JURISDICTION AND VENUE
7. This Court has jurlsdictiorl over the subject hnattcr of this action, pcr_sonal jurisdiction -
over thc' Dcfendanls, and alithority to grant the relief scqucstcd pursuaht to ECL § 71—2103, ECL N
§ 71-2107, CPLR § 301, GBL § 349@); GBL § 350-d and Exccutilrc Law § 63(12). '
8. Al: all releyant t‘il;ncs,. Defendants have purposefully availed lhemselves of this forum '
Among othcrl ﬂﬁngs,'therbefenclants designcd, programmed, and dclivcrccl thc electronic diesel
: control unjts,'including eh‘lission control softworc, for sale in the US markcl and inclusion in all
of the Volkswagen and Fiat Chrysler diesel passenger vehicles that sre the suhj ect of th1s | _
Complalht. Defendants also designed and calibratcd. the on-board _dielghostics (OBD) systcms in
the Fist vchiclcs, and prepared documents f_or_ submission hy Fiat to regulators fos ccrﬁﬁcation of
the Fiat vehicles’ OBD systems. Defendants did so undcr lthe‘supcrvisioh of their cuslofners,

when Defendants knew or should have khown that these vehicles, along with their control units,
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including mth the illegal sofrware strategiesdeserlbed in this Complaint, woultl be marketed,
a distributed, warranted; sold, and leased throughout all 50 states, including m New York.
9. - Accordingly, the exercise of speciﬁc jur_istliction over all Defendants is consistent with
due process |
10.  Venue lies in Albany County pursuant to CPLR § 503 (a) because, inter alia, the State has
offices in Albany and DEC’S headquarters isin Albany
VL BACKGROUND AND FACTUAL ALLEGATION S _ _
11. Unless 0therw15e stated, the allegatlons set forth in thls Complaint are based upon
lnfOnnaﬁon obtained from the documents produced by Bosch, the testinlony of Bosch’s current -
and former employees pubhcly ava11able press reports and mformatlon and documents obtained
from other sources through the Attorney General’s 1ndependent mvestlgatory efforts.
| A. The Volkswagen and Fiat Entities
12.  This Complamt centers around conduct that Bosch carried out with and for several of its
automotive customers over a number of years, namely: 7
a. nlembers of the Volkswagen Group (together, VW), led by .Volkswagen AG, -
including Aud1 AG (Audi), Volkswagen Group of America, Inc., Dr. Ing. '.h.c; F
Porsche AG dfb/a Porsehe AG, and Porsche Cars North America, Inc.; and
b Fiat Automobiles N.V. (Fiat N V) and a group of its subsrdlanes and affiliates
'.(together FCA), 1nc1ud1ng FCA USLLC, VM Motori S pA. (VM Italy), VM North
America (VM A_menca or, to_gether with VM Italy; VM). VM designed,
| manufactured, calibrated, and delivered the engine system for inclusion in the FCA ,7

Diesel Vehicles, under the supervision of FCA. -
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13.  Specifically, th._is Complaint focuses on Bosch’s development éﬁd programming of Bosch
electronic diesel control (EDC) units, known as the EDCI’I, for install;ition in more than 500,000
2.0- and 3.0-1ite1‘ “Clean Diesel”—Branded VW vehicles (VW Diesel Vehicles) and more than

| 100,000 3.0-iiter “EcoDiesel”-branded FCA vehicles (FCA'D}esel Vehicles) marketed and- sold
or leased in the United States. A list of the VW Diesel Vehicles and FCA Diesel Vehicles |
(collectively, the Diesel Vehicles) is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.

'14.  Bosch’sEDC17isa computer that controls emissions by peri_odically reading sensor
values, evaluating control functions, and cbntrolling actuétors based on control signals. Based
on sensor inputs, the EDC17 controls and inﬂuencgs the fuel con_:tbustipn process including, in
particular, fuel inj ecﬁon timing, Which affects engine pdwer, fuel consumption, and the
composition of th(_a exhaust gas or érnissions. ' |
15.  Bosch’s EDC17 consists of base emission control software, which Bosch programs to
meet each client manufacturer’s needs; in close coordination and con;'sultation with the customer.
Programming is‘the tésk of creating a source code that instructs a computer systein, like thé
Bosch EDC17, to behave according to the programmed logic. _ ‘

16.  Forits customers VW and FCA, Bosch programmed the EDC17 software to include

software functionality that Bosch knew or should have known would be calibrated! to optimize

the emission controls while the vehicles were undergoing étandard U.S. emissions testing cycles
ona dynamometer (on-cycle) and Substantially reducé emission controls when the vehicles were -
béing driven on the réad under normal, real-world conditions (oif-cycle) (known as “defeat

devices” in the industry), resulting in NOy emissions greatly exceeding U.S. standards. _

! Calibration (or conﬁguratién) is the task of adjusting pre-existing values (commonly referred to as
“labels” by Bosch and as “variables™ by others in the computer sciences industry) to adjust the : .
behavior of the programmed logic within the limits established by the program. ‘

.5
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B. The U.S. Mobile Source Air Pollutlon Regulatory F ramework lelts NO:«
Emissions.

17. NO’.‘ is a pollutant linked with scriou_s heélth and environmental &anéers. NOy combincs
in the atmosphere with vpiatile organic c_ompoundé to form ozone, a major component of urban
-smog that harms :the': public health and damages the envir'onment.. Ozone cbhtﬁbutes_ to many
humaﬁ respirat;)ry health problems inclﬁding chest pams shortneés of breath, coughing, ﬁausea;
throat 1rr1tat10n and mcreased susceptxblhty to respiratory infections and 1l]ncsses such as
asthma, and dlspropomonately affects vulnerable members of soc1ety, partlcularly children and
thc elderly.
18. NOx cmissi;)ris éléo caﬁse cutrophication of and excess nuf:t_‘ient loading in coastal and
other waters, rcduéc the diversity of fish apd other life in tl;le'se waters and, aiong- with sulfu: .
-dioxide found in the atlnosphere_ ﬁ;om éther sources, ‘contribut_e to the crea-lfion- of fine ﬁitratc and
sulfate parﬁclés., Like ozone, fine particulates affect Ncerork residents by causing hﬁman

, resplratory distress, cardlovascular dlsease and even prematmc mortahty Fme nitrate and
sulfate partlcles are also toxic to aquatic life and vegetatlon

- 19. Beqause of the serious health and enwronmental impacts of NOy emissions, state and
federal emission sténdards impose not-to-exceed limits. Vehicle manufacturers must ccftify to
thé U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and th_é California Alr Résou:rces Board
(CARB) thgt their motor Vehicles comply with those standards in order to obftain EPA-issued E
Certificates of Conformity (CQCS) and CARB;issucd Executive Orders (EOs). ‘The same
staﬂdards also mandate cértain dmability.rcéuirements ‘for the chgine and its_ componenfs.

_ 20. - Of ;elevance to the Diesel Vehicles. hére, EPA’s Tiér 2, Bin 5 emission standarc_i and - R
Célifénﬁa’s LEV II emission standard (LEV II)—the standards appliéable to the vast inaj ority of

‘the Diesel Vehicles—impose a NOx emi_ssibn limit of 0.05 'grams per mile (g/mi) forupto
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50,000 miles and 0.07 g/m1 from 50, 000 to 120,000 miles. The Tier 2/LEV III (LEV III)
emission standard imposes a combined non-methane orgamc gas and NOX limit 0f 0.125 g/ntn for
up to 150,000 miles. See Ex. 1. The amount of perm1831blc NOx emissions increases margmally
as the vehicles accumulate more miles and their emission control systems age.
21. | CARB also fequires vehicles to be equipped w1th OBD systccls that monitor emission
* control systems for the life of the vehicle, and that are able to detect ihalfdnctiohs in those

systems and notify the driver whcn emissions exceed certain designated levels.
22, Multiple sfatcs, including New York, enforce the State of California’s Low Emission
Vehicle Progrdm Regulations (CA LEV Regulations} by adopting _thcir own corrcspondidg ,
rcgulatioris, as expressly pcrmitted by Congress m Scct_ion 177 of the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C.

- §7507 (Scctioﬁ 177). “Thus, Ain addition to meeting EPA requircments, in ordcr fo sell their

_ vcﬁiclcs nationwide, manufacturcrs must: (a) ccrtify to .C.ARB that fhcir motcr vehicles conipl‘y
with CARB’S emissicn and CBD certiﬁcatio.n reqdirements and test procedures; (b)r obtain |
CARB issued EOs for each model year and for each test group showmg they are certlﬁed as’
meeting the emission rcqulrements of the apphcable CALEV Regulatlons and as meetlng the

_ OBD requirements of the applicable OBD regulations; (c) obtain valid “envuonmental
performance labels” dlsclosmg their smog and global warming scores in accordance with the CA

. LEV Regulatlons (d) obtam valid “emission control labels™ showing that they are certlﬁcd for
sale in California under the CA LEV chulatlons; and (¢) warranty that the vehlcles shall
coﬁlﬁly over their warfanty term with .all rcquiremcnts of the CA LEV fegulations'. See generdlly

| California Code of Regulations (CCR) Title 13, §§ 1900 et seq. | |
) 23. Althodgh diesel‘enginc.s generally are more fuel-efficient than gasoline engines, they also

emit relatively high amounts of NOy, a feature that must be controlled to meet emission

7 of 32.



(FTCED_ALBANY COUNTY CLERK 0171072019 10: 22 AM | NDEX NO. 900208- 19

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 2 ) , : - RECEI VED NYSCEF: 01/10/2019

standards. | Controlling NO« einissions in diesel vehicles, however, involves yarious trade-offs:
emission controltechnology that reduces NOyx emissions can adversely impact engine durability,
‘maintenance, perforinanee and efficiency. Dliesel.vehicle manufacture'rs must therefore balance
the goal of implementing. effective NO« reduction controls and strategies against engineering'and :
marketing objectives. |

C. New York Law Requires Express Disclosure of All Emission Control Dev1ces or
Strategles and Prohibits Ones That Operate to Beat Formal U.S. Test Cycles

- 24, State and federal emission regulations require vehicle manufacturers to make extensive
‘written disolosures regarding the existence, inipact of, and justiﬁc':ation for any devices, including
auxiliary emission control devices (AECDS), vthichaffect the operation of the emission control
system. _ | |
25.  An AECD is any element of design that senses tetnperatme, vehicle speed, engine RPM,
transmission gear, or any other parameter for the purpose of activating, modulating, delaying, or
deactlvatmg the operation of any part of the emission control system. An AECD that operates to
thwart emission standards by reducmg the effectlveness of an automobile’s emission control
system in everyday driving conditions is known in the industry asa “cycle-beater,” and in US '
legal terms as. a “defeat device.” |
26. CARB’s certification requirements and test procedures require, ar_nong other things, that
‘vehicle manufacturers disclose in their certification applications all-AECD.s used .in -their

- vehicles. | | |

27 _ Undisclosed AECDs and all defeat devices are expressly proh1b1ted under federal,

Callforma and New York law. Vehicles equlpped with undisclosed AECDS or any defeat

dewces may not be certified for sale in the United States.
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. D. Bosch Assisted VW and FCA in Implementing and Concealing the Illegal
Software Strategies They Used to Beat Formal U.S, Test Cycles

28." Both VW and FCA sought to leverage the diesel expert:lse they developed in the
European market to compete and profit in the U.S. diesel market. But U.S. federal and state
limits on NOx emissions are more strmgent than European lmnts.: |
29, Rather tlhan'invest the tirne, tesources and money necessary to deveiop emission controls |
_that would satisfy U.S. emission limits for NOy, VW and FCA paid Bosch to program the |
EDC17s to include functionalities that VW and FCA used as undisclosed AECDs and defeat
device soﬂ:ware to optimize emission controls on-cycle and rednce them off-cycle. Using these-
strategies enanled VW and FCA to pass formal U.S. emissions tests, but caused the Diesel
| Velncles to.emit 31gmﬁcantly hlgher- -permitted amounts of NOx off-cycle, under normal
: dnvmg condltlons |
30. The VW Diesel Vehicles contamed defeat dev1ces that worked by turmng up emission.
controls when the vehicle recognized it was being tested ona dynamometer (VW’ “dyno
, mode”) and turning them down off-cycle. |
31 Th_ese defeat devices, which operated to reduce NOx emissions to acceptable levels
during dyno 1node, led to ot'f-cycle, normal mode NO,g emissions gteatl)t, in excess of the 1egal
limit. - | | |
32" VW’sdecision to itnplement these defeat devices wé.s_the tesult ofa nrillfqu and
' Systematic_ schetne of cheating, which extended over nearly a decade beginning in or about 2006
~ and which was an open secret at VW
33. At VW’s mstructlon, Bosch pro grammed the software for VW, and expanded and reﬁned

its functlonahty over the years
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34. At all relevant times, Bosch understood that the software it prov1ded to VW would llkely
be employed for 1llegal uses but adopted the posmon that as long as its cl1ent was responsible for

: tlle ultimate application or calibration, Bosch could not be held legally respons1ble. .

35. Meanwhile, FCA partnered with Bosch to supply critical compo_ﬁents, software, and
services for the engines and emission 'control systems of the FCA Diesel Vehi'cles including the

- EDC17 and its. software parts of the emission control system OBD calibration, a:nd the |

preparatlon of OBD documentatlon for submrssmn by FCA to EPA and CARB for cert1ﬁcat10n
among others.

36. - As Wlth VW, during development olf the F(lA Diesel Vehicles beginningr in or around

2011, 1t became clear that complymg w1th the U.S. emission reqmrernents would requlre "
tradeoffs that would negatlvely affect the certlﬁablllty and marketablllty of the FCA Vehloles
37. Rather than address these issues legally, FCA pa1d Bosch to program multlple functlons
into the Bosch EDC17 that FCA used to optimize ermssmn controls on-cycle but decrease their |
usage off-.oyole. | |

38. | As deployed, these AECDs, aeting_ alone orirr combination, operated as defeat devices,
and led to oﬁlcycle; higllway NOx emissions- lgreatly in excess of the EPA Tier 2, Bin 5 standard.
-39. . Atall relevant tlmes, Bosch undefstood that FCA intended to use these AECDs to
optlmlze the FCA Vehlcles performance durlng formal testlng and further that disclosure to |

' _regulators of these AECDs would raise serious concerns about cheatmg and pose a senous threat

to certlﬁcatlon.

40 Certain Bosch personnel raised concerns to eolleagues and managers, as_well as FCA and
VM personrlel, that multiple above—referenced- functions irithe F CA Diesel Vehircles were

AECDs reilﬁiriag disclosure and/or illegal defeat devices. Notwithstanding these concerns,

10
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Bosch continued to supply FCA with software that Bosch knew or should have known would be .
uséd to implemen;c these illegal and undisclosed soft;vare strategies. Bosch did 50 with the

- understanding that FCA would not disclose these strategies. _

41 Noﬁi&sthg the presence of these defeat devices, VW sought and obtained
certiﬁcatic‘:'n of the VW Diesel Vehicles maer EPA’s Tier 2, Bin 5 erﬁission standard and
California’s LEV II and or LEV III emission standards by submittiné certifications to those
agenéiés; and FCA spught and obtainéd certification for the FCA Diesel Vehicles under EPA’s

‘Tier2,Bin 5 enﬁésion standard and California’s LEV II émission standard by submitting
certification applicaﬁons, inéludiﬁg OBD documentation prépared by Bosch, to those agencies. _
42. Fuﬁhcr, to-obtain COCs andlEOS, VW and FCA warranted that the Diesel Vehicles were
désigned, built, aﬂd eqliipped to meet the emission standards in California and other states that
have ddopted California’s standards.

43.  Indoing so, VW émd FCA also made false br misleading submissions, directly aﬁd

'through CARB, to DEC concerning NOx emissions from the Dlescl Vehicles.

44. In addition, VW and FCA delivered the Diesel Vehicles for sale in New York with
invalid “environmenta! performancc labels” affixed to them.

45. | Despite being aware that the defeat deviceé in the Diesel Vehicles were likely illegal in
the ﬁnitéd States, Bosch never alerted any regulatory authprities to thei.r existel_lce.

46.  Bosch further facilitated VW’s and FCA’s frauds by helping them conceal the existence
of the undisclosed 'AECDS and illegal defeat deyices, including by mmoving reference to them 7
from'Bosch’s formal EDC software documentation for thé VW Diesel Vehicles, and by
acquieséing to FCA’s scheme 1:th to disclose relevant functions in FCA’s certification

documentation.

11
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E. Bosch Facilitated .th(; Decepﬁve Marketing of the_Diesel'Vehicles. ]
47. Bosch undcrsfobd that in order to sell.and léase ;ti;lﬂ Diesel Vehicles in ;thc United Sfates, '
as \;\ieli asin Néw‘ Yofk, VW and FCA Wouldrhave to:.
a. market, represént and warrant t;) consumers that the they wcfe compliant with Federal
- and State emi.s_sion sté.ndards; and ) |
b. omit the fact that they were éheéﬁng on emission tests througﬁ the uée of the deféat
7 devices. _ |
48.  Atall reievant timés, Bosch knew or should have known that VW and FCA were using | _
the hidden software ﬁJncﬁolnality they had ﬁrogrammed into their VW and FCA EDC 17s to cheat
0.1_1 emissions tests, and that ny placing these vehicles on the market VW and FCA necessarily
would .m‘i_srepres.ent- to cdnsumers that the vehicles .\A-ierc 60mp1i_ant with federal and state
elﬁission standards and omit the fact that they v&fere cheating.
49.  Yet Boséh never came forward to warn consumers or regulators that VW aﬁd FCA were
| cl.leating.l Nor did Bosch take any coqécﬁve action as VW and FCA déce]ﬁtively cmphasiz_éd the
environmentally friendly, “c.lean,” “green” nature of diesel and targeted their marketing to
- envirbnmentally-conscidus consumers. |
50.7 - On the contrary, Bosch collaborated wﬂ:h VW and FCA to promote and éxpaﬁd diesel |
_tet:hliology into the; U.S. market through advertising, lobbying and prénioﬁonal campaigns,
incluc_lirig ny co—promotinQ__the Diesel Vehicles, promoting Bosch;s'EDC 1.7 software as “clcaﬁ,”
“green” and cdmpliant with emiSsion standards, and even ré-publishing some of VW’S deceptive _

ads on its own Facébook page; ‘

12
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L VW’s Deceﬁtive Marketing of th? Diesel Vehicles. ,
51.. From 2009 through 2015, VW spent hundredé of l-millions of d_olla;s to develpp and place,
in‘cludiné in N_ew York; int'ernet., teilevisiﬁn, and printrads advertising the fuel efficiency,
performance, and énviromnental hygiene of the VW Diesél Vehicles, to rebrand &iesel asa
élean—running, fuel-efficient, fun alternative tb their gas and hybrid competitors, and to associate
the VW and Audi brands with pro gréssive ideals, 'enviri)nmental consciousncés, and inno‘vatioh.
52. | ~In addition to its misleading advertising campaigns, VW subj ected buyers and lessees to
.addition'al_ misfepresentations at the point -of sale through window stickers affixed to each of the
VW Diesel Vehicles that'reﬂected.inaccuratc average “smog ratings” because, in fact, tﬁe | '
vehicles’ NOx emisSioné—_a major factor in smog ratings—actﬁally exceeded épplicablc

_ stz_mdards many tirﬁés over.

' 53.. Further, in California emissions warranties, VW e_xpressly'warraﬁted to each “original
r¢tai1 purchaser or originél lesse.c and any subsequent purchaser or leése_:e that évery [Diesel .
Vehicle] imported by VW ... . was designed, built and Equippcd” to conform with applicable -

_-CARB requirements, and, therefore, ECL Article 19 and its imj:lementing regulations. . |
4. VW di,ssreminatcd the above advgrtiseménts, marketing materials aﬁd warranties to

- consumers throughout the Unitcd States, li-ncludi.ng in New York, even though they were
categorically fa.lse in light of the installation of the defeat dcvic;‘as in the VW Diesel Vehicles.

. 55, Consumers purchased and leased the VW Diesel Vehicles -basgd oﬁ VW’s false and
misleading representaﬁons thgt the vehicles woﬁld be environmentally lfriendiy and clean, fuel- |
re‘fﬁcient, and compliant with all applicable _émission standards and would provide_sﬁperiol_'

performance, as well as based on VW’s omission of the fact that the vghjcles utilized illegal

defeat devices. Consumers were willing td'pay price premiums of thousands of dollars per car;
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depending on the model and trim packages, for VW Diesel Vehicles as opposed to gasolinc—
fucled cqulvalcnts |

5-6.' A significant portlon of owners purchased or lcased aVw Dlesel Vehlcle because of
VW’s “clean diesel” and envnonmentally ﬁ'lendly promotlons Many, if not most would not

- have purchased or leased the vehicles had VW accurately disclosed that the VW rchscl Vehicles

~ failed to meet state and fédorei.l emission standards or spcwod NOx into the air at levels well
above regulatory limits. .

il. FCA’s Deceptlve Marketmg of the Dtesel Vehicles. .
57. . To dlspcl dlesel’s negatlve associations in the U.S. market, FCA worked w1th a
marketing firm to, study consumer perceptions and create the name “EcoDlesel ”withan -
accompanying badge incorporating the i_mage of a leaf, to oreate an environmentally f;iondly
inioge for_ the FCA Diesel Vehiclo_s.

58, _Froni 2013 through 2016, FCA spent t‘ons. of millions of dollars to develop and place,
including in New York, internet, télevisioil, .and print ads advertising the foel-cﬂiciency,
performance; _énd enviroi]inental _hygiene' of the FCA Diesel Vchiolcs, to rebrand diesel as a
clcan—ruhning,' ﬁ.lcl-efﬁciel’lt, fun alternative io their gas and hybrid competitors, and tor associate

- the FCA b_rands with progr'essive'.ideals, environmental cOnociousness, and _innovation.

59. In addition toits misleading adve_rtising _can_lpaigns:, FCA s'ubj.ected buyers and lessees to
additional misropresentatioos at the point of sale through window sﬁckers affixed to each of the
7 FCA Diesel Vohicles theit reﬂectéd iilacourate averago “smog ratings” because, in fact, tho |
vcliicies’ NOx emissions—a major factor in smog ratings—actually exceeded applicable_

* standards many times over,
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60. Further in Célifornia- emission warranties, FCA expressly warranted tor each “original
retall purchaser or original Iessee and any subsequent purchaser or lessee that every [Dlesel
Vehicle] 1mported by FCA was designed, bullt and equipped” to conform with appllcable CARB
requlrements and therefore ECL Artlcle 19 and its nnplementlng regulatlons

6i. Consumers purchased and leased FCA Diesel Vehicles based on FCA’s false and
misleadiug representaticns that the uehicles would be environmentally friendly and clean, fuel-
efficient, and cornplia_mt with ‘ail applicableernis.sicn standerds and would -prouide superior |
perfonnance, as well as on FCA’s omission of the fact thet-the irehicles eontain'ed iilegal defeat _
| devicest Consumers izvere willing to pajr price premiums of thousands of dciiars, depending on
the mcdel and trim packages, for the FCA Diesel _Vehicles cver'the éas;fueled -equivalents.
62. A Signiﬁcaint portion of owners purchased or Ie_ased aFCA Diesei Vehicle beceuse of itsr
“clean diesel” and environmentally friendly promotions: Many, if not most, would_not have . |
purchased or.leased the vehicles had FCA 'accurately disclosed that the ]i'CA Diesel Vehicles '
falled to meet state and federal emission standards. |

iil. Bosch Deceptwebz Pramoted Its EDC17 as the Brain of VW and FCA’s
“Clean Diesels.” : -

63, Bcsch was aware of and aided and abetted VW’s and FCA’S deceptive conduct tcv\iards

-regulators and consumers about the legal complianc_e and environinental suitability of the Diesel -
Vehicles _while also engaging in its own misrepresentations and orniss_ions with respect to its
ECUs and the Diesel Vehicles. | | |

* 64. Bos_ch’s collahoraticn with VW’s and FCA’s conduct went beyond the gbai of satisfying.

) its customersi needs and ensuring continued access.to their lucrative business. Asit participeted

in VW’s and FCA’S ccnduct, one of Bosch’s chief ohj ectives was te expand its “clean diesel”

reputation and business into new merkets, particularly in the United States.
15
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| 65. Bosch palred its EDC17 with a proprretary diesel fuel injection system and clalmed that

- the resultmg “Common Rail System produced enhanced performance, complied w1th appllcable
emission limits, and could be custormzed for any vehicle.

. 66. Moreover,rBosch made signi_ﬁcantinyestments in developing and promoting its Common
Rail -System as the centerpiece of its “clean diesel”'technology, the'he_art of .Whi.ch was the
'EDC17. During the times lt was assisting VW and FCA in developing so_ftvuare to cheat on
_emiss_ions tests,_Bosch used a variety of means—ranging‘ from appearing at trade shows and
'conferences to lobhying government officials to issuing press releases and authoriné articles in -
the automotiye press to making social media posts.—to- represent to regulators and other |
government officials, automakers and even individual consumers that the Common Rail System
was the key to powerful yet qulet fuel-efﬁc1ent dlesel passenger cars that also could be
engineered to comply with mcreasmgly stringent U.S. emission limits.

, 67 For exarnple, Bosch worked closely with VW to promote the sale of the “clean diesel”
VW Diesel Vehicles in the United States. The two compam'es developed a coordinated press

-+ strategy around the 2009 Jetta’s Green (lar of the Year Ayvard, in which VW reviewed; reyised,. :
and approved Bosch’-sjpress releases, emphasizing the “emission reduction,” “low.emissions’l
and “50-state compliant” “clean diesel” vehicles.
68. Srmrlarly, inal anuary 24, 201 3 press release Bosch touted new platforms for its

Common Rall System namely the soon-to-be released FCA D1ese1 Vehicles.  That release

_ | a'nnounced that FCA’s 2014 J ecp: Grand Cherokee would be powered by 3.0 liter “Eco Diesel”
engine mcorporatmg Bosch’s “Clean Dresel” technology In the release, Bosch’s North Amenca
division asserted that the J ecp Grand Cherokee’ “clean diesel” emrssron‘sy_stem complied “with.

the most stringent emiSSion regulations in the world” and that a growing number of vehicle
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manufacturers were adopting clean diesel téchhology, which pr'(.)videsr_fue'l efficiency,
performance, and reduced emissions. |

69.  Later, at an event jointly hosted by Ram, Jeep and Bbséh in Traverse City, Michigan, the
presenters also ina;de a number of statements rega;ding the 3.0-liter Eco Diesel’s pcrformance,
includiﬁg that “Bosch emissions control system helps ensure that virtually no particulateé and
miﬁjmd oxides of nitrogen (N O_x) exit the tailpipe” and that the J eep Grand Cherokee or Ram
1500 diesel engine provided fuel economy that was “30% better than a comparable gasoline
engine.”

.70’ Bosch continued its promotion of the Common Rail System well into 2015 by, inter alia,
posting videos on YouTube and creating a “Bosch Clean Diesel” Facebook pa;ge devoted to
“clean diesel.” Among the numerous Bosch articles and videos promoting “cléap diesel”
technology, it posted on the Facebook page (ii_reqt links to many, if not all, of VW’s now
infamous “old wivés’ talés” video adv.er’ti‘sements, de_signed to make VW’s diesels look modern,
hip, and, especially, clean and environmentally friendly. Bosch also posted a vidco featuring a
Ram 1500 EcoDiesel brandishiﬁg “Clean Diesel Power” and “Bosch” .artwork,.noting that while
the truck was rafcd at 29 mpg on the highway, “we can typically gcf upwards of 33 miles per
gallon, casily.” Bosch promoted the video using the hashtags “#cleandiesel” and
“#good'cleanftm.” - |

71.  Bosch engaged in this multi-year campaigﬁ to expand and increase sales and leases of
diesel vehicles containing its Common Rail System “clean diesel” technology in thé United
States, including the Diesel Vehicles sold by VW and FCA, even though it had assisted VW ahd
FCA in enabling those veh}cles to cheatand illegglly evade emission standards, and even though

it knew or should have known VW and FCA were engaged in deceptive marketing of those
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vehicles to corlsumers. It did so not only by declining to disclose to-regulators and the public
VW’S and FCA’s cheatlng and deception, but also through its ov\m- affirmative promotion and
marketing of the faulty “clean diesel” technology and the vehicles containing 1t

' VI. REGULATORY SETTING | -

A. New York Envn'onmental Laws Reqmre Cars to Meet Strlct Emlssmn Standards
and Mandate Substantial Penalties for Vlolatlons

72. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7507, Section 177 of the Clean Ax_r, Act, New York has
- ineorporated into state law and enforces under its soverei gn powers automobile emission
standards identical to those enacted in Califomia standards which are generally more stringent
than those promulgated by EPA and enforced by the federal government in those states that have
7 not-chosen to mcorporate and enforce Callforma s standards As a result vehu:les sold or
registered in New York must meet these more stringent emission stand‘ards, and v101at10ns of
these emlsslon regulatlons are violations of New York law. |
73. At all times relevant to the allegations in this Complalnt, New York has lncmporated the
'Califorma automobile emlsswn standards, whleh are found at CCR title 13, §§ 1900 et seq., into
New York’s Emission Standards for Motor Vehlcles and Motor_ Vehicle Ea_glﬁes regulations at 6
NYCRR §§ 200.9 and 21 8, promulgated under Article 19 of the Environmental Cons_ervation
Law. With ECL Article 19, lts implementing regulations, and_related prowlis_ions of law, New
York has estahlished a oomprehensive regulatory seheme designed to prevent the release of
pollution to the atmosphere by, among ot.her things, controlling the amount of air contaminants,
* - like NOx, that are emitted frotn motor vehicles. Specifically, in relevarlt part
) a.' 6 NYCRR § 211.1 prol_n'bits any person ﬁom“caus[ing] or- allow[lng] emissions of

air contaminants into the outdoor atmosphere of such quantity, characteristic or
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: dm_‘ation .which are injurious to human, plant or animal life orto propcﬁy, or which
unreaéonably interfere with the comfortable enj oyment of life or property.” 7

b. 6 NYCRR § 218-2.2(a) required vehicle manufacturers to submit CARB EXecﬁt_ive
Orders to DEC through model year 2013 prior tolselling new vehicles in New York.
As part of a rulemaking revision tq § 21 8-2.2@) in latt;:;'20 12, vehicle manufacturers

- were ﬁo longer required to submit Executive Orders for 2614 and subsequent mo&el
~ years. These doc:uments'were publicly available-flrom CARB and vehicle
manufacturers were only re;luired to submit them to DEC upon .request. Pursuémt to
Séction 177 of the Clean Air Act, DEC nécessarily relies upon vehicle mar_lufactm'ers’
: submissjoné to CARB in determining compliance With DEC regulations.

c. 6 NYCRR § 2003 prohibits any person from making a false statement in connection
with applicaﬁons, plans, si:eciﬁcations_or réports' submitted pursuant t{t). New g(ork’s
air pollution rggﬁlation’s. | _ _

d. 6 NYCRR § 218-6.2 makes it unlawful for any person to disconnect, mddify, or alter
ahy air contaminant emission control system for .mofor vehicles required by the New
York air i)bllution regulations; e-xccpt when necc.ssary to r;:pair the \-r;:hicle.‘ |
Addiﬁonﬂly, this section requires the air containinént emission control syétem onall
motor vehicies in New York té be correctly installed and mainfainéd’ in opefating
condition.

€. Pursuant to ECL § 19-03 03 and New York Vehicle and Traffic Law § 301(a), rhoto‘r

_ velﬁcles in New Yofk must be inspected annually for safety and ﬁt least biennially for

air emissions compliance.
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f.. Vehicle & Traffic Law § 375.28-a forbids any person fr&m rémoving,‘dismanﬂing, or
_otﬁérwise causing to be inofcrativ_é any equipment or fea’;ﬁre,c-o‘nstitutmg an
operational element of a motor velﬁcle’s air bolluti_on control system or mechanism
required by state or fedefal. law or by an rules or regulations promulgated pursuant
thereto. | | |

 g. Pursuant td Vehiél_e & Traffic Law Arti_cie 9, secti6n7375.28-c,‘ “[ejxcept whére
inconsistent with fecieral law, rulés 'ahd régulations, every xinotor vehicle rf;gistercd in
the state and manufactured or assenible_d after June thirty, nineteéq hundred sixty- |
seven aﬁd_ kﬁown as a nineteen hundred sixty-eight or subsequent model shall be
.equipped with an alr contaminant emission cbntroi sysfem of a type approved by the-
state comnﬁssipﬁer of environinental con'servatipn.” ' 7
74.  ECL §§ 71-2103 and 71 -2107 authorize civil penaltiés\an'd injunctive rélief for violatioﬁs
of New York’s air pollution regulations. 'Veﬁiéle and Traffic LaW § 180‘0(5) .directs that |
violations of that statute’s provisions constitute.a trafﬁ-c inﬁaction with atteﬁdant fines and _othe;
penalties. |
- 75.  The Attorney General of New Yofk is auﬁoﬁzed to recover pénaftiés or seek injunctive
rélief to remédy violaﬁoné (l)f ECL article 19 and implcménting reguiations. ECL §§ 71-2103(2),
71-2107. | | |
| _ 76. _ i'Ihe_ Attorney General is also authorized to seek penalties and iﬁjunctivc relief to remedy :
repeated iilegélity in thq conducf of business, iﬂcludiﬁg violations of the Environmental
' Conservationr Law, its imblemcnting fcgulaﬁons; and the Vehicles anﬁ Traffic Law, pursuant to

_Executi\{c Law § 63(12).
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B. General Business Law Article 22-A, 8§ 349 and 350 I’rohlblt Deceptlve Acts and
Practices and False Advertising.

77. . GBL‘§ 349 prohibits deceptive acts and practices in the conduct of any business, trade, or
commerce and authonzes the Attorney General to commence an actlon to enj oin further

_ Vloiatlons and to seek restltution and costs.

78, _' GBL §350 p_rohibits false advertising in the conduct of any business, trade or commei‘ce

- or in the furnishing of any .sei'vice in the state of New York. | |

79. GBL § 350-a deﬁnesrfalse advertising as advertising which is “misleading in a'material
respect.” | . ' o
80 . In d_etemiining \ivhether advertisilig is misleaciilig, GBL § 350-a provides tliat the court
must take “into account (emoxig other things) not only representaticne made by statemeiit,' word, |

- design, device, sound or any combination thereof, but also the exterit to which the advertising'
fails to reveal facts_ material in the light of eﬁch representations with respect to the commodity or
employment to which the adirerti.sing ielates under the conditions prescribed in said |
adwieitisement, or u_nder such cenditions as are customary and usual.”
81. _ Foi‘ both deceptive acts and practices under GBL § 349 and,false advertising under GBL
§ 350, statements or omissions need nolt rise to the level of fraud, i;)ut need only be iikelsz tc
mislead a iee.sonable consumer acting reasonably_.under the circumStances. |

. 82, GBL § 350-d 'proVides for the aeseSSIilent ofa civil penalty for each deceptive ract'or
practlce o false advertlsement in violation of GBL §§ 349 or 350.
83. In any action or proceedmg pm‘suant to GBL §§ 349 and 350, pursuant to CPLR
_ § 8303(a)(6), the A_ttorney General is entitled also to reco'ver $2,000 against_each defendant,

* whether or not other costs have been awarded.
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C. New York’s Executive Law § 63(12) Prohibits Repeated or Pemlstent Fraud or
Illegahty in the Transaction of Busmess :

84_; Executive Law § 63(12) authonzes the Attorney General to brmg a proceeding te CD]OIII

7 repeated or persistent ﬁ'aud or illegal conduct in the carrying on, conductmg, or transactlon of
busmess. |

' 85. Executive Law § 63(12) defines the terms “fr;ihd” or “fraudulent” as “any device, scheme
or a:ﬁﬁce to defraud ,an(-i__any deception, misrepresentation, cencealment, suppressien, false
pretense, false _promise or hnconsciohable contractual-proviSionS.”

86. Although fraud under § 63(12) mcludes common law fraud, it is not necessary to .
establish the tradltlonal elements of common law fraud, such as intent to deceive or rellance

The test of fraudulent conduct under § 63(12) is whether the act or practlce has the capac1ty or
tendency to decelve or creates an atmosphere conducive to fraud.

87. “Illegal” conduct under Executive Law § 63(12) includes the vielaﬁon of ahy state,
federal, or local law or reéulation. | | |

88.  Under Executive Law § 63(12), “fepeated” fraud or illegality means the repetition of
separate and distinct e’cfs 01; conduct that aﬁ‘ecte more than one person, and “persistenf” ﬁaud or
illegality means the ‘continuance or carrying on of any ﬁéudulent oi‘ illegal act or conduct.

-89. Execuﬁve Law § 63(12) pro'videé for injuhctive rehef, eesﬁtution, damages, disgorgemeht
of prhﬁts, and other appropriate eciuitéble relief. .

90.- In any action or proceeding pursuaht to Executive Law § 63(12), pursuant t‘o- CPLR

§ 8303(a)(6), the Attemey General is entitled also to recover $2,000 against each defenda'nt;

whether or not other costs have been awarded.
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CAUSES O-.F ACTION
| COUNT I
~ PURSUANT TO ECL §§ 71-2103 AND 71-2107: _
VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK LAW PROHIBITING EMISSIONS THAT
UNREASONABLY INTERFERE WITH THE COMFORTABLE ENJOYMENT OF
' LIFE OR PRQPERTY
~ (Both Defendants)

91.  The State répe;até and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 90 as if fully set forth herein.

92. By assisting VW and FCA with implementing ‘thc defeat devices and/or the undisclosed
- AECDs in the Diesel Vchic;les, and thus increasing the amount of NOy emitted byrthose vehicles
By many multiples of the _alloﬁable amounts under 6 NYCRR §§ 218-2.1 & 200.9, as well as by
remaining silent about this conduct with regulators, consumers and the public, Defendants have
“caus[ed] or allow[ed] emissions of air contaminants into the outdoor aﬁnosphere of such
quz_nﬁity, characteristic or duration which are injuﬁous to human, plant or animal life orto -
property, or which unreasonably intérferc with the comfortable eﬁjbyment of life or prop¢rty”
throughout New York, in violation of 6 NYCRR § 211.1.

93. Excess,N_Ox-, ozone énd pmﬁculate matter are presenf throughout New York as a result of
Defendants’ acﬁdns, and illcgal and harmful pollution continues to be emitted into New York’s
environment from the Diesel Vehicles. NOx in the atmosphere can lead to the formation of

~ ozone and particulate matter, Which are serious pro‘blcms in New York and harmfui to its

residents” health.

94.  Asaresultof Defendants’® cohduct, excess NOy, ozone and particulaté matter are present

throughout New York, and are continuing to be emitted into the environment.
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95. As aresult of Defendants’ conduct large numbers of people throughout New York have
been exposed and/or w111 continue to be exposed to excess NOx, ozone and partlculate matter,

- thereby affecting the health, safety and welfare of each‘person.

COUNT 11

PURSUANT TO ECL §§ 71-2103 AND 71-2107; :
VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK PROHIBITION OF DEFEAT DEVICES
(Both Defendants) :

.96.  The State &peats and re-alleges paragraphs .1 through 95 as if fully set forth 'hereiu

97. Pursuant to 6 NYCRR § 218 6.2, no person shall dlsconnect modlfy or alter any air
containment emission control system requlred by New York air pollutlon regulatlons, exceptas
necessary to repan' the vehicle.

98. By assisting VW and FCA with implementing the coneealed defeat dev1ccs and/or the
undlsclosed AECDs in the Dlesel Vehlcles that caused the emission control system of cach
vehlcle to be dlsconnected modified or rendered inoperative, Defendants violated, or caused or

allowed the Violation of 6 NYCRR § 218-6.2 with respect to each of the Diesel Vehicles.

COUNT III

VIOLATIONS OF GBL § 349
(Both Defendants)

99.  The State repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 98 as if fully set forth herein.
100. - At all times relevant, Defendants have been persous engaged in business, trade or
commerce in the State of NeW York within the meaning of GBL § 349.

101. Defendants engaged in deceptive acts and practices by, without limitation:
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co-promoting the Diesel Vehlcles with VW and FCA as “clean,” “green” and
~ compliant with emission standards, despite the fact that the Diesel Vehicles emitted
NOx well in excess of permissible limits in regular drlvmg conditions;

falsely, mlsleadlngly and/or deceptlveiy ‘advertlsmg, promoting and representing the
diesel emissions-related technology they were selling to VW and FCA as green
“clean diesel” technology that would allow the Diesel Vehicles to meet emission

. standards in all fifty states and cnable them to achieve performance and fuel-

efficiency comparable or superior to that of other vehicles, while emitting fewer
pollutants, despite knowing the Diesel Vehicles emitted NOx well in excess of

* permissible 11m1ts in regular dnvmg condltlons, and

. concealing and failing to disclose the ex1stence of the defeat dev1ces in the Diesel-

Vehicles.

102. At'ail relevant times, Defendants also knew or should have lrnown that VW and FCA

were 'engaged in their oWn deceptive acts and practices, including by, without limitation:

a.

manufactunng and/or mstalhng defeat dewces in the D1ese1 Vehlcles whlch rendered
those vehicles non-conformlng with applrcable emission standards;

mlsrepresentmg and/or falsely certlfylng and warranting the Dlesel Vehlcles
comphance with applicable emission standards;

placing into commerce vehicles that failed to comply with apphcable emission
standards

failing to disclose and/or actively concealing from environmental regulators the
existence of the defeat devices and their harmful environmental impact;

failing to disclose and/or actively concealing from consumers the existence of the
defeat devices and their harmful environmental impact; |

selling and offering for sale vehicles that were defective because, without limitation, -
the vehicles failed to conform to applicable state and federal emission standards;

falsely and deceptively advertising, promoting and warranting the Diesel Vehicles as
“clean” and “green” and compliant with emissions standards despite the fact that, in
regular driving, they'emit NOx at many multiples the allowable amounts; and

falsely, mlsIeadlngly and/or deceptrvely advertising, promotmg and warrantmg the
Diesel Vehicles by failing to disclose that certam performance measures could only

. be met when the defeat devices were operatmg
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103. Defendants facilitated and directly participated_ in these deceptive acts and pract.ices'by,
without Ilmztatzon knowingly:

a. assisting VW and FCA with the 1mplementat10n and/or concealment of the -
undisclosed AECDs and/or defeat devices in the Diesel Vehicles;

b remalmng silent and/or concealmg the und1sclosed AECDs and/or defeat devices in
| the Diesel Vehicles; :

c. working with VW and FCA to co-promote the “clean diesel” engines as “clean,”
“green” and compliant with emission standards, despite the fact that, in regular
driving, they emit NOxat many multiples the allowable amounts; and

- d. engaglng in its own deceptive marketing and advemsmg of the same “clean diesel”
engines, which was targeted at regulators, consumers and the public.

' 104. Defendants’ deceptiw_re conduct has signiﬁcantly harmed consumers in New York, who
did not receive the beneﬁt of their l)argain, whose vehicles have suffered a diminution in value
and whe unwittingly bought and drove cars .tha't violated the law and contributed to
environmental harm notwithstanding that consumers believed they had purchased or leased an
enviromﬁéntally—friendly car. |
| COUNT IV
AIDING AND ABETTING VIOLATIONS OF GBL § 349
(Both Defendants)
165. .The State repeats and re-alleges patagraphs 1 throuéh 104 as if fully rset forth llerein.
_- 106.  As alleged herein, Defendants aided and abetted the deceptive acts and practices of VW
and FCA alleged in paragraph 102 by knowmgly pr0v1d1ng substantlal assistance to VW and
FCA including by, w1thout limitation: |

a. aSSIStmg VW and FCA with the lmplementatlon of the defeat dev1ces in the “clean
d1esel“ engines of the D1ese1 Vehicles; : o

b. remaining silent and concealing VW’s and FCA’s 111egal and deceptwe conduct ﬁ'om
~ regulators, consumers and the pubhc '
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~c. working with VW and FCA to co-promofe the “clean diesel” engines as “clean,”
' “green” and compliant with emission standards, despite the fact that, in regular
driving, they emit NOx at many multiples the allowable amounts; and

d. engaging in its own deceptive marketing and advertising of the same “clean diesel”
engines, which was targeted at regulators, consumers and the public. '

107. Defendants ‘conduct in aiding and abettmg VW’s and FCA’s conduct has SIgmﬁcantly
. harmed consumers 111 New York, who did not receive the beneﬁt of their bargaln, whose veh1c:les
have suﬁered a dnmnutlon in value and who unw1tt1ng1y bought and drove cars that violated the :
law and contributed to environmental harm notwithstanding that consumers believed they had
purchased or leased an environmentally,-friendly car,
COUNTV
VIOLATIONS OF GBL § 350
(Both Defendants)
108. The State-repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 107 as if fully set forth herein. .
109. - At all relevant tlmes, Defendants have been persons engaged in busmess trade or
commerce in New York within the meamng of GBL § 350.
11_0. - Defendants engaged in false advertlsmg in the conduct of business, trade or ‘commerce in
the state of New York in violation of GBL § 350 by, without limitation: -
a. co-promoting the Diesel Vehicles with VW and FCA as “clean,” “green” and
compliant with emission standards, despite the fact that the Diesel Vehicles emitted
NOx well in excess of permissible limits in regular driving conditions; and ‘
b. falsely, nﬁsleadingly and/or deceptively advertising, promoting and representing the

diesel emissions-related technology they were selling to VW and FCA as “green”

“clean diesel” technology that would allow the Diesel Vehicles to meet emission

standards in all fifty states and enable them to achieve performance and fuel-

efficiency comparable or superior to that of other vehicles, while emitting fewer

pollutants, despite knowing the Diesel Vehicles emitted NOx well in excess of
perm1551ble limits in regular driving condltlons :
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111. Defendants’ conduef has signiﬁeaﬁﬂy harmed conSﬁmers in New York, who did not

* receive ‘the benefit of their Eargain, whose vehicles have suffered a diminution 111 value and who
, unwit_tingly bought and drove caes that violated the law and contﬁbﬂte_d te) eﬁvironmental harm -

_ not“dﬂlstaﬁding that consumers believed they had pﬁrchased or leased an envirqnmentally—

ﬁjendly car. | |

| COUNT VI
PURSUANT TO EXECUTIVE LAW § 63(12):
REPEATED AND PERSISTENT ILLEGALITY -
(Both Defendants)

112. The State eepeats gnd re~elleges parageéphs 1 thfough 111 as if fully set forth herein,

113. Atall relevant times, Defendants have been persoﬁs engaged in the carrying on,
.. conduCting, or trapsacti_on of business in New York within the meaning ef Executive Law

§ 63(12) |

1 14. Defendants have engaged in repeated and per51stent 111ega1 acts in v101at10n of Executlve

Law § 63(12) by, without limitation:

a. assisting VW and FCA with implementing and cc-)nce'alilllgr the defeat devices
and/or the undisclosed AECDs in the Diesel Vehicles, thereby: .

i causing or allowing air pollution that is injurious to human health and welfare
and the environment throughout New York, in violation of 6 NYCRR § 211.1;

ii. causing the emission control system of each vehicle to be disconnected,
- modified or rendered inoperative, in violation or causing or allowing the =~
violation of 6 NYCRR § 218-6.2 and Vehicle & Traffic Law Artlcle 9, section
' 375.28-a; and : o

iii. preventing the installed air pollution control systems in the vehicles from
operating in continued conformity with state emlssmn standards, in violation
of Vehicle & Traffic Law § 375.28-c;

b _ acquiescing to FCA’s submission to CARB of certlficatlon documents for thc
" FCA Diesel Vehicles that were inaccurate due to their failure to disclose the
undisclosed AECDs in those vehlclesv in violation of 6 NYCRR § 200.3;
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c. engaging in deceptive acts and practices in the conduct of business, trade or
commerce in the state of New York in violation of GBL § 349,

d. aiding and abetting VW’s and FCA’s deceptive acts and practices in the conduct
of business, trade or commerce in the state of New York in violation of GBL §
349; and

e. engagmg in false advertising in the conduct of business, trade or commerce in the
state of New York in violation of GBL § 350.

115. ljefendants’ conduct was repeated and persistent.

116. Defendants’ coi_lduct has significantly harmed consumers in New York, who did not
receive the benefit of their bargain, whose vehicles have suffered a diminution in value and who
unwittingly bought and drove cars that Violatéd the law énd contributed tor environmental harm
-notwithstanding that consumers believed they had purchased or leased an environmentally-
friéndly car. | |

COUNT VI
PURSUANT TO EXECUTIVE LAW § 63(12):
AIDING AND ABETTING FRAUD
(Both Defendants)

117.  The State repéats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 116 és if fully set forth herein.
11.8. At all relevant times, Defendants have Been persons engaged in the caﬁying on,
conducting or transaction of business in New York within the me;ming of Exeéutivé Law

§ 63(12). |
119. Defendants éided and ébeﬁed the fraudulent écts of VW 'a.n_d FCA alleged in paragraph
102 by knbwingly ptovi&ing substantial assistance to VW and FCA, including by, Wifhopt
limitation: |

a. assisting VW and FCA with the implementation of the defeat devices in the “clean
.diesel” engmes of the Diesel Vehlcles, .
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-~ b. remaining silent in the face of VW’s and FCA’s concealment from regulators of their
illegal and deceptive conduct; ' ‘ ‘

- ¢.- working with VW and FCA to co-promote the “clean diesel” engines as “clean,”

“green” and compliant with emission standards, despite the fact that, in regular
driving, they emit NOy at many multiples the allowable amounts; and

d. engaging in its own deceptive marketing and édvertising of the same “clean diesel” -
engines, which was targeted at regulators, consumers and the public.

120.  When making the decision to purchase or lease a Diesel Vehicle, consumers in New-York
reasonably relied on VW’s énd FCA’s fraudulent misstatcmeﬁts, omissions and practices
_regarding the clean, green and enﬁrbnmentélly-fricndly characteristics of tﬁe Diesel Vehiéies as
well as their purported compliance with the law. = |
121. . Défcﬁdmts’ conduct was iepéated and persistent,

122, Deféndéﬁts’ conduct has si@ﬁficantly harmed consumers in New York, who did not
receive the benefit of their bargain, whose vehicleé have suffered a diminuﬁon in value and who
unwittingly bought and drove cars tﬁat viéléted tﬁe law an& c_:ontribﬁted to environmental harm
Iiotwithstanding ﬂ;l":.l.t consumers believed they had p__urchased or leased an envifonmentglly- |

friendly car.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, New York requests that this Court graﬁt the following relief:
A Ent& an ofder permanénﬂy enjoining Defendants from further violations of Executive
Law § 63(12) and GBL Article 22-A, §§ 349 and l35-0; |
B. Enter an order pursuant to Eﬁgc'utiize Law § 63.(12) and GBL §§ 73497 and 350,
permanently enjoining Defendants from ad\}ertising, promoting, markéting, concealing or

assisting, facilitating'.or participating in any manufacturer’s advertising, promotion,
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mmketing or concealment of any new motor vehicle equipped with a Defeat Device or -
' Undisclosed AECD or any new motor vehicle not eligible for sale pursuant te emission
and environmental staudards in Nevu Yorl_(; _ | |
C. ~ Enter an order that Defendants pay .to New York pursuant to ECL § 71_-21 03(1), for
rviolations of 6 NYCRR §§ 2d0.3 él 1.1, and 218-6.2 civil penalties -and pursuant fo
, Vehlcle & Traffic Law § 1800(b)(1) for wolatlons of Vehlcle & Trafﬁc Law §§ 375 28 -a
. and 375 28 -C,a ﬁne for each v1olat10n, ‘
| D. Enteran order that Defendants pay a civil penalty for each ﬁo]aﬁon of GBL §§ 349 and
- 350; | " -
E.  ‘Enteran order pursuant to Executive Law .§ 63(12) and GBL § 349 and 350 fhat :
| Defendants d_i__Sgorge all revenues, proﬁts and. gains achieved in wﬁole or in part thlfough '
their fraudulent and dec'eptive acts os practices complained of herein; ‘ |
F. Enter anrorder pufsuant to ECL.§§ 71-2103 and 71-2107 and Enecuﬁve Law § 63(12j
permanently enjoining Defendants from: |
i. Implemenﬁng or coneea]ing defeat devices in motor .vehieles to be sold or
used 111 New York, or assisting'in the saine; and | |
-ii. Submitting, causing to be submitted, or acquiescing in the submissio_n of false
or mi.sleadihg ceniﬁcauons to DEC;
G.  Award Plainti-ﬁs costs plus an additienal allowance of $2,000 against each Defendant .
pursuant to CPLR § 8303(3)(6), and |

~ H. GTant such additional and further rehef as the Court deems approprlate and ]ust
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January ', 2019
Respectfully submitted,

LETITIA JAMES

Attorney General

State of New York

Attorney for Plaintiffs State of New York
and the New York State Department of
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DAVID E. NACHMAN

Senior Enforcement Counsel
Executive Division
DANIELLE FIDLER

NOAH POPP

CHANNING WISTAR-JONES
Assistant Attorneys General

28 Liberty Street

New York, New York 10005
(212) 416-8000

and

MORGAN COSTELLO

Chief, Affirmative Litigation Section
Environmental Protection Bureau
The Capitol

Albany, New York 12224

(518) 776-2392
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